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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

[SOUTHERN DIVISION] 

 

TIFFANY MCNEIL 

 

 Plaintiff,       Case No. 

v. 

         Hon.  

LEWIS EASTMEAD, individually and in his 

capacity as a public safety officer; MATTHEW 

SCHOENAUER,  individually and in his 

capacity as a public safety officer; SULEIMAN 

SUMBAL, individually and in his capacity as a 

public safety officer; in his individual and 

official capacities; in his individual and official 

capacities; JOHN DOE OFFICERS 1 – 3, 

individually and in their official capacities as 

public safety officers; FREDERICK PYLES, 

individually and in his supervisory capacity as a 

public safety officer; SCOTT SERGENT, 

individually and in his supervisory capacity as a 

public safety officer; JOHN DOE 

SUPERVISORS 1 – 5, individually and in their 

supervisory capacities as public safety officers; 

and the CITY OF COLDWATER, a political 

subdivision of the State of Michigan; 

 

 Defendants, 

____________________________________________/ 

Solomon M. Radner (P73653) 

EXCOLO LAW, PLLC 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

26700 Lahser Road, Suite 401 

Southfield, MI 48033 

(248) 291-9712 

sradner@excololaw.com 

____________________________________________/ 

 

COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 
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 NOW COMES Plaintiff, TIFFANY MCNEIL, by and through her attorneys, 

EXCOLO LAW, PLLC, complaining of Defendants, respectfully alleges as follows: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

1. This is a civil rights action in which the Plaintiff seeks relief for the 

violation of her rights secured by 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the First, Fourth, and 

Fourteenth Amendments. 

2. Jurisdiction of this Court is found upon 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

3. The amount in controversy exceeds Seventy-Five Thousand 

($75,000.00) Dollars, excluding interest, costs and attorney fees. 

4. The events that give rise to this lawsuit took place at the Branch County 

Jail, located at 580 Marshall Road, Coldwater, Michigan, 49036. 

5. Venue is properly laid in the Western District of Michigan under 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) since the parties to this action are citizens of the County of 

Branch, State of Michigan.  

PARTIES 

 

6. Plaintiff, TIFFANY MCNEIL (“Plaintiff” or “Ms. McNeil”), is a law-

abiding citizen of the United States and a resident of the City of Coldwater, County 

of Branch, State of Michigan.  

7. Defendant LEWIS EASTMEAD (“Eastmead”) at all pertinent times, 

was a resident of the County of Branch and the State of Michigan, was employed by 
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the City of Coldwater as a public safety officer, and is being sued individually and 

in his official capacity, jointly and severally with the other Defendants named herein.  

8. Defendant MATTHEW SCHOENAUER (“Schoenauer”) at all 

pertinent times, was a resident of the County of Branch and the State of Michigan, 

was employed by the City of Coldwater as a public safety officer, and is being sued 

individually and in his official capacity, jointly and severally with the other 

Defendants named herein.  

9. Defendant SULEIMAN SUMBAL (“Sumbal”) at all pertinent times 

was a resident of the County of Branch and the State of Michigan, was employed by 

the City of Coldwater as a public safety officer, and is being sued individually and 

in his official capacity, jointly and severally with the other Defendants named herein. 

10. Defendants JOHN DOE OFFICERS 1-3, at all pertinent times were 

residents of the County of Branch and the State of Michigan, were employed by the 

City of Coldwater as public safety officers, and are being sued individually and in 

their official capacities, jointly and severally with the other Defendants named 

herein. 

11. Defendant CITY OF COLDWATER (“City Defendant”) is a 

governmental entity in the State of Michigan and operates the Coldwater Police 

Department, under color of state law, and is a person for the purposes of a 42 U.S.C. 

1983 action. The City is responsible for the policies, practices, customs, and 
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procedures of the Coldwater Police Department, for the training and supervision of 

the police officers of the Coldwater Police Department, including the training and 

supervision of the individually named Defendant Officers, and for those acts 

committed pursuant to the training, supervision, policies, practices, customs, and 

procedures that deprived Plaintiff of his fundamental constitutional rights as set forth 

in this Complaint.  

12. The individual Defendants named in this Complaint will herein be 

referred to as the individually named Defendant Officers. Furthermore, at all times 

relevant to this action these Defendants were acting under the color of law as public 

safety officers and were acting within the course and scope of their employment with 

the Police Department for the City of Coldwater.   

13. Defendant FREDERICK PYLES (“Pyles”) at all pertinent times was a 

resident of the County of Branch and the State of Michigan, was employed by the 

City of Coldwater as a public safety officer, tasked with supervising each of the 

Defendant Officers named herein, and is being sued individually and in his official 

capacity, jointly and severally with the other Defendants named herein. This 

Defendant along with any and all other supervising officer Defendants will be 

referred to jointly hereafter as “Defendant Supervisors”. Upon information and 

belief, all of the Defendant Supervisors are citizens of the County of Branch and 

State of Michigan. Furthermore, at all times relevant to this action these Defendants 
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were acting under the color of law and were acting within the course and scope of 

their employment with the City of Coldwater. Defendant Supervisors were 

responsible for establishing and enforcing constitutionally permissible duties, 

conduct, and discipline of officers and other employees of the City of Coldwater 

Police Department. 

14. Defendant SCOTT SERGENT (“Sergent”) at all pertinent times was a 

resident of the County of Branch and the State of Michigan, was employed by the 

City of Coldwater as a public safety officer, tasked with supervising each of the 

Defendant Officers named herein, and is being sued individually and in his official 

capacity, jointly and severally with the other Defendants named herein. This 

Defendant along with any and all other supervising officer Defendants will be 

referred to jointly hereafter as “Defendant Supervisors”. Upon information and 

belief, all of the Defendant Supervisors are citizens of the County of Branch and 

State of Michigan. Furthermore, at all times relevant to this action these Defendants 

were acting under the color of law and were acting within the course and scope of 

their employment with the City of Coldwater. Defendant Supervisors were 

responsible for establishing and enforcing constitutionally permissible duties, 

conduct, and discipline of officers and other employees of the City of Coldwater 

Police Department. 
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15. JOHN DOE SUPERVISORS 1-5, are the individuals tasked with 

supervising each of the Defendant Officers named herein, and will be referred to as 

“Defendant Supervisors”. Upon information and belief, all of the Defendant 

Supervisors are citizens of the County of Branch and State of Michigan. 

Furthermore, at all times relevant to this action these Defendants were acting under 

the color of law and were acting within the course and scope of their employment 

with the City of Coldwater. Defendant Supervisors were responsible for establishing 

and enforcing constitutionally permissible duties, conduct, and discipline of officers 

and other employees of the City of Coldwater Police Department. 

16. On or about July 24, 2017, at the time of the events alleged in this 

Complaint, all the individually named Defendants were at all times each acting in 

their individual capacities, within the course and scope of their employment as police 

officers and/or agents employed by the City of Coldwater, and under the color of 

law.  

17. At all times relevant hereinafter mentioned, the individual Defendants 

were personally acting under the color of state law and/or in compliance with the 

official rules, regulations, laws, statutes, customs, usages and/or practices of the 

State of Michigan and/or the City of Coldwater. 
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18. Each and all of the acts of the Defendants alleged herein were 

committed by said Defendants while acting within the scope of their employment by 

the Coldwater Police Department.  

 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 

19. On Monday, July 24, 2017, Tiffany McNeil was at home with her three 

children located at 189 W Chicago Street.  

20. Ms. McNeil chose to enjoy alcoholic beverages in her backyard.  

21. When Ms. McNeil’s husband, Joseph Scott McNeil (“Scott”) arrived 

home after being absent for two weeks, they got into an argument which turned into 

an altercation.  

22. Ms. McNeil heard Scott say that he was going to call the police, so she 

sent her children to their bedrooms upstairs.  

23. Police arrived at the McNeil residence at approximately 5:00 pm.  

24. Officer Eastmead attempted to enter through the side door of the house, 

but it was locked.  

25. Scott then came over to the side door and opened it from the inside to 

allow Officer Eastmead inside.  

26. Officer Eastmead then found Ms. McNeil at the top of the staircase and 

communicating with other officers who had arrived.  
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27. Ms. McNeil was then taken into custody and transported to the Branch 

County Jail.  

28. Once in the sally port area of the jail, Officer Eastmead pinned Ms. 

McNeil, then handcuffed, against the wall by placing his hand on her upper back.  

29. While pinned against the wall, Ms. McNeil asked Officer Eastmead 

multiple times to promise that he would check on her children and ensure their 

safety.  

30. Ms. McNeil felt that Officer Eastmead was disregarding Ms. McNeil’s 

pleas.  

31. Ms. McNeil yelled at Officer Eastmead to go check on her kids but at 

no time resisted his grip on her neck or attempted to turn around to face him. 

32. Without any physical provocation by Ms. McNeil, Ms. McNeil 

exclaimed to Officer Eastmead “You don’t give a fuck!” Officer Eastmead then 

grabbed her by the hair, spun her around, and slammed her to the ground face-first 

while she was still handcuffed.  

33. Even if Ms. McNeil did turn towards Officer Eastmead, such movement 

did not constitute assault or resistance. However, Officer Eastmead threw her to the 

ground face-first while she was handcuffed, clearly utilizing force that was far more 

excessive than necessary.  
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34. Ms. McNeil did not simply fall to the ground on her own. Ms. McNeil 

was taken to the ground by Officer Eastmead.  

35. After being slammed to the ground face-first, Ms. McNeil hit the 

ground so hard that blood gushed from her face and she lost consciousness.  

36. He then got on top of her, delivering knee-strikes to her unconscious 

body.  

37. Officer Eastmead then continued to yell at her to be quiet even though 

she was unconscious and bleeding profusely from her head. He did however yell at 

her lifeless body to “roll over!”  

38. In an attempt to justify his assault on Ms. McNeil, Officer Eastmead 

explicitly lied in his report repeatedly.  

39. Some of Officer Eastmead’s explicit lies in his report include:  

i. Falsely claiming that Ms. McNeil had become “combative” 

toward him; and 

ii. Falsely claiming that Ms. McNeil refused to stay against the sally 

port wall and that she had turned toward him; and 

iii. Falsely claiming that he took her to the floor in response to 

McNeil turning towards him; and 

iv. Falsely claiming that she would not stand still; and 

v. Falsely claiming that she refused to stand and face the wall; and 
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vi. Falsely claiming that she refused to remain standing against the 

wall despite being told to relax; and 

vii. Falsely claiming that McNeil turned towards him but that he 

pushed her back against the wall and told her to relax; and 

viii. Falsely claiming that she “used her weight to push herself off the 

wall with her chest and turned toward me” forcing Eastmead to 

grab “her by her upper arms and used ‘arm bar take down’ 

technique taking her to the floor in order to control her better;” 

and 

40. These claims were lies and continue to be lies. Eastmead created these 

lies to attempt to justify his assault on McNeil.  

41. Officer Eastmead had absolutely no lawful basis to injure Ms. McNeil, 

as described herein.   

42. Throughout this series of events, the other named defendant officers as 

well as John Doe Officers 1-3 stood by and failed to intervene, some going so far as 

to lie in their own reports to protect Eastmead instead of bringing him to justice or 

reporting his vicious and unnecessary attack to a supervisor.  

43. Ms. McNeil was then transferred to a hospital, and she was admitted 

for treatment.  

44. Defendants Schoenauer and Sumbal acted unlawfully as well.  
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45. Defendant Matt Schoneauer was present for Eastmead’s assault on 

McNeil and failed to intervene or to bring the matter to the attention of a supervisor.  

46. Schoenauer took quite the opposite approach, choosing to lie in his own 

report to protect the unlawful and disgraceful actions of his fellow officer Defendant 

Eastmead.   

47. Schoenauer explicitly lied in his own report, specifically by: 

i. Falsely claiming that McNeil was “actively resisting” Officer 

Eastmead; and 

ii. Falsely claiming that he “observed McNeil back her body away 

from the wall and fall to the ground;” and 

iii. Falsely claiming that during McNeil’s fall to the ground, 

Eastmead “continued to have a hold of McNeil;” and 

iv. Falsely claiming a second time in his report that “McNeil fell to 

the ground.” 

48. Sumbal was present for Eastmead’s assault on McNeil and failed to 

intervene or to bring the matter to the attention of a supervisor.  

49. Sumbal also chose to lie in his own report to protect the unlawful and 

disgraceful actions of his fellow officer Defendant Eastmead.  

50. Sumbal explicitly lied in his own report, specifically by: 
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i. Falsely claiming that he heard a thud and that McNeil “had a cut 

above her eye which was bleeding, and she was on the ground.” 

This is a lie by omission, made specifically for the purpose of 

protecting his fellow officer Defendant Eastmead’s unlawful 

actions, because Sumbal purposely and intentionally omitted that 

Eastmead threw McNeil to the ground, was on top of her 

delivering knees to her unconscious body while yelling at her 

while she was on the ground, choosing instead to only write that 

he heard a thud and McNeil “had a cut above her eye which was 

bleeding, and she was on the ground.” 

51. Though the lies in the police reports are perhaps somewhat sloppy in 

that some material contradictions are included, the lies were all made for the same 

goal: To justify the unlawful actions of the police and to hide those actions from 

scrutiny. 

52. For example, Eastmead claimed that he had to take Ms. McNeil to the 

ground using arm bar take-down technique, which of course he claimed was due to 

her resistance. Schoenauer chose a different false path in falsely claiming that he 

“observed McNeil back her body away from the wall and fall to the ground…..” 

Though these lies clearly contradict each other, they both hide the truth: That 

Eastmead threw Ms. McNeil to the ground face first while she was hand-cuffed.  
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53. The named defendant police officers lied in their reports specifically to 

ensure that McNeil would frivolously be charged with a felony, and/or to prevent 

McNeil from holding them liable in a court of law, and/or to protect each other from 

disciplinary action or legal liability. Simply put, they believed their actions would 

accomplish the following: McNeil would be preoccupied with and terrified of her 

felony charge, and she would be so thankful when it would eventually be dismissed 

in a plea bargain that not only would their actions appear to be somewhat justified 

due to her being charged with a felony, but she would not be a credible witness to 

take legal action against them due to the dismissal of the felony charge only being 

pursuant to plea bargain. They lied to protect each other at the expense of McNeil. 

What they did not count on was the fact that their unlawful actions were captured on 

audio and video recording, which clearly prove their reports contain material lies.  

54. Officer Eastmead’s outrageous conduct was unlawful and malicious 

from start to finish; Schoenauer’s, Sumbal’s and John Doe Officers 1-3’s failure to 

intervene and/or willingness to lie for him to cover up his actions, rather than 

arresting him or at least reporting his actions to a supervisor are equally appalling 

and unlawful.  

55. Schoenauer and Sumbal and John Doe Officers 1-3 demonstrated their 

disregard for Ms. McNeil’s constitutional rights and failed to prevent Officer 
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Eastmead from seriously injuring a handcuffed and defenseless woman, opting 

instead to help Eastmead cover it up.  

56. One or more of the defendants told Dr. Knoblach that McNeil assaulted 

police, had to be restrained, and fell and injured herself.  

57. This statement told to Dr. Knoblach was both slanderous and libelous 

and was then relied upon by Dr. Knoblach, as the defendants intended it to be, in his 

report to Child Protected Services, Log # 5685424, which claimed that McNeil 

“assaulted police” which is a lie, but Dr. Knoblach was relying on the information 

relayed to him by one or more of the individual defendants.  

58. Making matters worse, Eastmead then had McNeil charged with 

felonious resisting arrest, which they knew was based on their own bold-faced lies. 

his was done to pressure her into a plea bargain, which is exactly what happened: 

she pled to domestic assault and the felony resisting was dismissed. They certainly 

sought felony charges for a reason other than to bring McNeil to justice and 

specifically for the purpose of perpetrating an injustice.  

59. Eastmead lied by claiming that McNeil “did assault, batter, wound, 

resist, obstruct, oppose, or endanger Officer Lewis Eastmead” when in fact she did 

none of those things.  

60. Eastmead did this to misuse the power of the court, and he successfully 

did, by having McNeil charged with a felony. It was done in the name of the court 
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and/or under its authority by means of use of a legal process not proper in the conduct 

of a proceeding, for the purpose of perpetrating an injustice, i.e. having McNeil 

charged with a felony to accomplish two things: 1) to justify his use of force against 

her; and 2) pressure her into a plea bargain. This felony was dismissed.  

61. The Defendants, by engaging in this type of unlawful, thug-like conduct 

while acting under the color of law, injured a restrained citizen of the city they were 

sworn to protect, and are deserving of serious punishment for such actions.  

62. Plaintiff seeks punitive and compensatory damages, an award of costs 

and attorney’s fees, and any other relief this Court deems proper.  

 

AS AND FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

 

Use of Excessive Force against Plaintiff Tiffany McNeil in Violation of 42 

U.S.C. § 1983 and the Fourth Amendment 

 

As to All Defendants 

 

63. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates, and re-alleges each and every allegation set 

forth above and incorporates them as if fully set forth herein.  

64. Ms. McNeil did nothing unlawful to provoke Defendants. 

65. All the aforementioned acts of the Defendants were committed 

maliciously, recklessly, intentionally, grossly negligently, and/or knowingly, 

without any lawful purpose and without good faith.  
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66. All of the aforementioned acts deprived Plaintiff of the rights, 

privileges, and immunities guaranteed to citizens of the United States by the First, 

Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the Constitution of the United States of 

America, and in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

67. The acts complained of were carried out by the aforementioned 

individual Defendants in their capacities as police officers, with the entire actual 

and/or apparent authority attendant thereto.  

68. The acts complained of were carried out by the aforementioned 

individual Defendants in their capacities as police officers, pursuant to the customs, 

usages, practices, procedures, and the rules of the Coldwater Police Department, all 

under the supervision of ranking officers of said department.  

69. Defendants collectively and individually, while acting under the color 

of state law, engaged in conduct that constituted a custom, usage, practice, procedure 

or rule of the respective municipality/authority, which is forbidden under the 

Constitution of the United States.  

70. Defendants’ action constitutes an excessive use of force which a 

reasonable police officer would not have used.  

71. As a proximate result of the illegal and unconstitutional acts of the 

Defendants, Plaintiff Ms. McNeil was harmed and suffers damages for her physical, 
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mental, and emotional injury and pain, mental anguish, humiliation, embarrassment 

and therefore encountered economic and non-economic damages.  

 

AS AND FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

 

Unreasonable Seizure and Use of Excessive Force in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 

1983 and the Fourth Amendment 

 

As to All Defendants 

 

72. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates, and re-alleges each and every allegation set 

forth above and incorporate them as if fully set forth herein.  

73. That 42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides for civil liability for deprivations of 

any rights, privilege and immunity, carried by the Constitution and laws of the 

United States and the State of Michigan.  

74. That the arrest by use of excessive force on Plaintiff Ms. McNeil, her 

detention, and taking of the person into custody charging with criminal offenses 

without probable cause was an unreasonable seizure under the Fourth Amendment.  

75. That the acts of Defendants constituted gross negligence and was 

conduct so reckless as to demonstrate a substantial lack of concern for whether an 

injury would result to Ms. McNeil, and further, that the individual Defendants acted 

with willful misconduct.  

76. That at all times material herein, Defendants were acting under color of 

state law.  
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77. That at all times material herein, Defendants subjected Ms. McNeil to 

a depreciation of her rights, privileges and immunities secured by the Constitution 

of the United States, and more specifically, Amendments Four and Fourteen of the 

laws of the United States and of the State of Michigan.  

78. That the above referred to customs and practices implemented by 

Defendants proximately caused the injuries and losses to Plaintiff as alleged herein, 

thereby depriving Ms. McNeil of her rights, privileges and immunities, secured by 

the United States Constitution and the Fourth Amendment.  

 

AS AND FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

 

Abuse of Process and Malicious Prosecution 

 

As to All Defendants 

 

79. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates, and re-alleges each and every allegation set 

forth above and incorporate them as if fully set forth herein.  

80. That the individual Defendant police officers abused the criminal 

investigatory process by using it for the purpose of perpetrating an injustice, ie by 

having McNeil charged with a felony despite there being not a shred of evidence 

that any felony was committed. Indeed, McNeil was only charged with a felony in 

an attempt to justify their own thug-like behavior. 

81. As a corroborating act of the individual Defendants improper purpose, 

the individual Defendant police officers drafted and provided to supervisory officials 
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in the Coldwater Police Department police reports and/or other supplementary and 

regularly used documentation customarily prepared by police officials to commence 

criminal proceedings against criminal suspects and/or to allow for the 

commencement of criminal investigatory proceedings against Ms. McNeil, when the 

same Defendant police officers knew and/or should have known that the information 

contained in those documents were false and/or misleading.  

82. That the named Defendant police officers submission of the false and/or 

misleading police reports and other necessary supplementation documentation to 

Coldwater Police Department supervisory officials, representatives, and/or agents 

thereof and under color of law, were willful and intentional.  

83. That the allegations and misuse of the criminal investigatory process 

was improper since the individual Defendant police officers knew and/or should 

have known, that the allegations regarding the Plaintiff’s alleged criminal actions 

were knowingly false and/or misleading.  

84. That as a direct result of the individual Defendant police officers abuse 

of the criminal investigatory process, Ms. McNeil’s reputation in the community and 

among her close friends and family members has been damaged and she has suffered 

mental anguish, as well as economic and non-economic damages.  

AS AND FOR A FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

 

Failure to Intervene 
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As to All Defendants 

 

85. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates, and re-alleges each and every allegation set 

forth above and incorporates them as if fully set forth herein.  

86. In the manner described above, by their conduct and under color of law, 

during the constitutional violations described herein, one or more of the Defendants 

stood by without intervening to prevent the violation of Plaintiff’s constitutional 

rights, even though they had the opportunity to do so.  

87. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ failure to intervene 

to prevent the violation of Ms. McNeil’s constitutional rights, Ms. McNeil suffered 

injuries, including but not limited to loss of liberty, physical harm, and emotional 

distress.  

88. These Defendants had a reasonable opportunity to prevent this harm, 

but failed to do so.  

89. The misconduct described in this Count was objectively unreasonable 

and was undertaken intentionally, with malice and/or willful indifference to Ms. 

McNeil’s clearly established constitutional rights.  

90. The harm suffered included McNeil being viciously assaulted and 

injured, and McNeil being charged with a felony specifically to perpetrate an 

injustice.  

AS AND FOR A FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
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Municipal Monell Claim 

 

As to Defendant City of Coldwater 

 

91. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates, and re-alleges each and every allegation set 

forth above and incorporate them as if fully set forth herein.  

92. A municipality is liable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 if the acts that violated 

a person’s rights were undertaken pursuant to the municipality’s policies and 

customs.  

93. As the first alternate basis for liability against Defendant City of 

Coldwater, the policy maker for Defendants, the mayor, someone else in a policy 

making position, delegated full authority and/or empowered the individual 

Defendants.  

94. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the City of Coldwater, through 

its police department, chief of police, commander in chief, supervisors and other 

policy makers, pursued policies, practices and customs that were a direct and 

proximate cause of the unconstitutional rights alleged herein and were the result of 

deliberate indifference.  

95. The policies include, but are not limited to: 

a. Failure to properly screen, supervise, discipline, transfer, counsel 

or otherwise control police officers, including Defendants, who 
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were known or should have been known to engage in improper 

use of excessive force; 

b. Failure to train regarding proper use of handcuffs and restraints; 

c. Employing a police code of silence wherein other officers and 

supervisors cover up the use of excessive force by fabricating 

accounts in routine business documents used to prosecute 

individual(s), in official police reports and/or internal affairs 

investigation(s), all of which are designed to falsely exonerate 

officers from potential civil liability; and  

d. Failure to have and implement policies and procedures for 

handling persons such as the Plaintiff; 

e. Failure to train officers to de-escalate confrontations; 

f. Any and all additional acts of gross negligence and/or willful and 

wanton misconduct as may become known through the course of 

discovery.  

96. That delegation of authority by the actual policy maker of Defendant 

City of Coldwater placed the individual Defendants in a policy making position, and 

the acts of the individual Defendants may fairly be said to be those of the 

municipality.  
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97. Those acts therefore subject Defendant City of Coldwater to liability 

for the Constitutional violations of the individual Defendants.  

98. Defendant City of Coldwater directly caused the Constitutional 

violations suffered by Ms. McNeil, and is liable for the damages caused as a result 

of the conduct of the individual Defendants. The conduct of the individual Defendant 

officers was a direct consequence of the policies and practices of Defendant City of 

Coldwater.  

99. At all times relevant in this complaint, direct and proximate cause of 

the damages and injuries complained of were caused by policies, practices and/or 

customs developed, implemented, enforced, encouraged, and sanctioned by 

Defendant City of Coldwater, including, but not limited to, the failure to:  

a. To adequately supervise and train its officers and agents, 

including individual Defendants, thereby failing to adequately 

discourage further Constitutional violations on the part of its 

police officers; 

b. To properly and adequately monitor and discipline its officers, 

including the individual Defendants; and  

c. To adequately and properly investigate police misconduct and 

instead, acts of misconduct were tolerated by the Defendant City 

of Coldwater.  
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100. Defendants have acted with deliberate indifference to the Constitutional 

rights of Ms. McNeil. As a direct and proximate result of the acts as stated herein by 

each of the Defendants, Ms. McNeil’s Constitutional rights have been violated.  

101. As a proximate result of Defendants illegal and unconstitutional acts, 

Ms. McNeil suffered physical, mental, and emotional injury and pain, mental 

anguish, suffering, humiliation, and embarrassment.  

102. Upon information and belief, the City of Coldwater has a de facto 

unwritten policy, custom, or procedure in place wherein it only preserves footage 

which shows the police acting like heroes. It allows for and encourages the 

destruction of evidence that incriminates the police or exposes them to civil or 

criminal liability.  

103. The City of Coldwater does nothing meaningful to train, supervise, 

discipline, or control its officers to prevent the actions taken by the officers as 

outlined in this lawsuit.  

104. This failure to supervise, discipline, or control its officers demonstrates 

deliberate indifference to the Constitutional rights of Ms. McNeil and is directly 

responsible for the individual Defendants acting the way they did as outlined in this 

lawsuit.  

105. Further, the de facto unwritten policy, procedure, or custom, described 

herein, demonstrates deliberate indifference to the Constitutional rights of Ms. 
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McNeil and is directly responsible for the individual Defendants acting the way they 

did as outlined in this Complaint.  

106. As a proximate result of the unconstitutional acts of Defendant City of 

Coldwater, Ms. McNeil was harmed and suffered damages including physical, 

mental, and emotional injury and pain, mental anguish, humiliation, and 

embarrassment.  

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Tiffany McNeil, demands judgment and prays for 

the following relief, jointly and severally, against all Defendants:  

a. Full and fair compensatory damages in an amount to be 

determined by a jury; 

b. Punitive damages in an amount to be determined by a jury; 

c. Reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of this action; and  

d. Any such other relief as appears just and proper.  

 

JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury of all issues so triable, pursuant to 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 38(b). 
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       Respectfully Submitted,  

       EXCOLO LAW, PLLC 

     

      By:  

 

 

 

 

 

Dated: December 11, 2017  

/S/ Solomon M. Radner    

SOLOMON M. RADNER (P73653) 

Attorney for Plaintiff  

26700 Lahser Rd, Suite 401 

Southfield, MI 48033 

(866) 939-2656 

sradner@excololaw.com 
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